

# Communicable Disease Management Plan 2022-2023

# Table of Contents

Introduction	2
<u>2</u> 2	
Vulnerable Populations	3
Public Health Communication and Training for School Staff	3
Communicable Disease Guidance	4
COVID-19 Vaccinations	4
Face Coverings and Masks	4
Exclusion for Contagious Conditions	5
Isolation	6
Screening for Symptoms	6
107	
Protocol for Notifications of COVID-19 Outbreaks and Exposures	7
Facilities and Visitors	8
108	
Physical Distancing	9
Handwashing and Hygiene Practices	9
Cleaning and Disinfection	10
Appendix	11
Appendix A – Handwashing	11
Appendix B - Disease Specific Guidelines	13

## Introduction

The **SOESD Communicable Disease Management Plan 2022-2023 (CDMP)** is built upon requirements and guidance from the Oregon Health Authority (OHA) and the Oregon Department of Education (ODE). The resources that inform the CDMP include <u>Communicable Disease Guidance for</u> <u>Schools, Instruction and Tools for School-Level COVID-19 Management Plans</u>, and <u>Care and</u> <u>Connection: Guidance for Schools</u>.

The purpose of the CDMP is to provide prevention-oriented protocols and practices that support the health, safety, and well-being of SOESD's program staff and students. The CDMP focuses on minimizing risks to safety and public health, while maximizing care, connection, and learning. This document is updated as new regulations and guidance are released from ODE and OHA.

## **Ensuring Public Health**

SOESD Program administrators are responsible for implementing the requirements of the *SOESD Communicable Disease Management Plan* to the extent possible while ensuring equity and caring relationships among families, students, and staff.



Patty Michiels, SOESD Chief Human Resources Officer is responsible for this district. (phone: 541-776-8590 Ext 1104) email: <u>patty\_michiels@soesd.k12.or.us</u>)

Coordination with local public health authorities (LPHAs) is a cornerstone to ensuring the health and well-being of the SOESD community. The following medical experts provide support and resources to the district/program policies and plans, and review local, state and national evidence to inform the plan.

- SOESD School Nurse: Tina Talamentes
- Local Public Health Authority Staff (LPHA) Staff:
  - o Jackson County: Jackson Baures, Jackson County Public Health Division Manager
  - o Josephine County: Mike Weber, Josephine County Public Health Director
  - o Klamath County: Jessica Dale, Klamath County Public Health Assistant Director
  - o Douglas County: Bob Dannenhoffer, MD, Chief Health Strategist
  - Lake County: Charles B. Tveit, Chief Executive Officer
  - Reopening Advisor: Tanya Frisendahl, SOESD SSA/SIA Consultant Educational Services

Onsite school staff have the responsibility to adhere to health and safety guidance and protocols to support public health. This includes maintaining their own health as well as the health of those they come in contact with. Through caring connections, encouragement and supportive reminders, staff ensure that students, families, and other staff follow the guidance for the protection of the SOESD community.

As students and staff return to school, they may naturally fall into pre-closure routines and habits. Staff must consistently model, teach, and reinforce required health and hygiene practices until they become an expected and accepted way of being at school.

## **Vulnerable Populations**

Vulnerable populations may request accommodations. Vulnerable individuals are those who are at higher risk of severe illness. They include those with the following characteristics and/or health conditions:

- Age 65 years or older
- Cancer
- COPD (chronic obstructive pulmonary disease)
- Serious heart conditions (e.g. heart failure, coronary artery disease, or cardiomyopathies)
- Immunocompromised state from solid organ transplant
- Obesity
- Type 2 diabetes mellitus
- Chronic kidney disease
- Sickle cell disease
- Smoker
- Other conditions or risk factors identified by OHA, CDC, or a licensed healthcare provider

## Public Health Communication and Training for School Staff

 ب ب

Communication of SOESD health and safety protocols to students, families and communities is an expectation of SOESD staff. Communications will be provided in the preferred language of families to the extent possible. Also see Screening for Symptoms, p.6, regarding guidance on communications to families.

Communication procedures regarding COVID-19 specifically is found on p.7, Protocol for Notifications of COVID-19 Outbreaks and Exposure.

SOESD will provide annual in-service training in the fall to staff and volunteers prior to the arrival of students. This training will include the *SOESD Communicable Disease Plan*, and the applicable *School-Level COVID-19 Management Plan For School Year 2022-2023*. Periodic follow-up training will be scheduled by department administrators to re-enforce routines, problem solve specific needs, answer implementation questions, and ensure equity, care and connection to support the social/emotional well-being of students, families and staff. Staff will also be trained to district protocols of the districts they serve. Local district protocols will be posted on the SOESD website. New staff hired after the start of the school year will receive this training at their onboarding orientation.

## **Communicable Disease Guidance**

The following sections include guidance on mitigating contagious conditions in general, as well as COVID-19 specifically. Please refer to Appendix B for Disease-Specific Guidelines (from <u>Communicable Disease Guidance for Schools</u>, p.14-24, which provides detailed information regarding symptoms, exclusion, transmission, and recommended control measures for specific health conditions.

## **COVID-19 Vaccinations**

SOESD complies with OAR 333-019-1030 **COVID Vaccination Requirements**. Teachers, school staff and volunteers may not teach, work, learn, study, assist, observe or volunteer at a school unless they have provided documentation that they are fully vaccinated or have provided documentation of a medical or religious exception. The rule applies to SOESD teachers, staff, partners, and volunteers who work in our school buildings directly or indirectly with students. SOESD works in partnership with our local LPHA to assist staff in locating and accessing required vaccinations.

## **Face Coverings and Masks**

Universal masking is not required of SOESD programs. Those staff, volunteers and students who do choose to wear a mask are welcomed and encouraged to do so as their personal choice. SOESD can provide face coverings upon request.

In the following situations, teachers, program staff and volunteers are required to wear masks:

- OAR 333-019-1011 Masking Requirements to Control COVID-19 in Health Care Settings
  requires school nurses, school staff, students, and visitors to wear a mask in areas of a
  school identified as health care settings. School health care settings include school health
  rooms, isolation spaces, counseling offices (except where academic counseling is provided),
  offices where mental health services are delivered, school-based health centers, and other
  areas where healthcare is routinely delivered. Each program identifies which areas are
  health care settings, and monitors masking compliance in those designated spaces.
- Teachers, school staff and volunteers may not teach, work, learn, study, assist, observe or volunteer at a school unless they have provided documentation that they are fully vaccinated or have provided documentation of a medical or religious exception. The rule applies to SOESD teachers, staff, partners, and volunteers who work in our school buildings directly or indirectly with students. If wearing a mask is included as a requirement in a staff or volunteer's exception plan due to not meeting the vaccination requirement, they must wear the mask identified in their plan.
- During episodes of high community transmission of COVID-19, the district, in collaboration with the LPHA, may require or strongly recommend universal indoor masking at the discretion of the superintendent.

## **Exclusion for Contagious Conditions**

#### **General Exclusion Guidelines**

Exclusion is the process of restricting an individual's attendance at school during a period when they are most likely to be contagious with a communicable disease. Staff, volunteers and students must be excluded from the school setting while in communicable stages of disease. Staff and volunteers may not report to work, and parents may not bring their students to school if the student, staff member or volunteer has been diagnosed with a contagious condition or has symptoms of a contagious condition. Please refer to Appendix D for Disease Specific Guidelines from <u>Communicable Disease Guidance for Schools</u> (August 2022), p.14-24.

#### **COVID-19 Exclusion Guidelines**

The following exclusion guidelines for COVID-19 symptoms is taken directly from <u>Communicable</u> <u>Disease Guidance for Schools</u> (August 2022), p. 9

Students and staff **should** be excluded from the school setting if they exhibit:

**\*PRIMARY SYMPTOMS OF COVID-19:** fever, cough, difficulty breathing or shortness of breath and loss of taste or smell.

#### • If 2+ primary symptoms, MAY RETURN AFTER

- Following applicable symptom-based guidance, if COVID-19 test is negative
- Following applicable symptom-based guidance AND minimum 5-day isolation, **if COVID-19 test is positive** OR **if not tested**
- 1. **\*FEVER:** a measured temperature equal to or greater than 100.4°F orally.
  - **MAY RETURN AFTER** fever-free for 24 hours without taking fever reducing medicine.
- 2. **\*COUGH**: persistent cough that is not yet diagnosed and cleared by a licensed healthcare provider **OR** any acute (non-chronic) cough illness that is frequent or severe enough to interfere with participation in usual school activities.
  - MAY RETURN AFTER symptoms improving for 24 hours (no cough or cough well-controlled.)
- 3. **\*DIFFICULTY BREATHING OR SHORTNESS OF BREATH** not explained by situation such as exercise: feeling unable to catch their breath, gasping for air, breathing too fast or too shallowly, breathing with extra effort such as using muscles of the stomach, chest, or neck.
  - MAY RETURN AFTER symptoms improving for 24 hours.
  - This symptom is likely to require immediate medical attention.

#### \*NEW LOSS OF TASTE OR SMELL

• MAY RETURN per guidance for 2+ primary COVID-19 symptoms.

To help further ensure the health of the school community, staff, volunteers, and students who have a family member at home with symptoms of COVID-19 who has not been tested, need to monitor themselves carefully for symptoms. The ill family or household member should be strongly encouraged to seek testing.

#### Isolation

4.

SOESD program sites will establish and maintain supervised space to isolate sick students, staff and volunteers that is separate from the space where other health care tasks take place. Trained staff will support all student health and safety needs including *Individualized Health Management Plans*. Additional spaces may need to be identified in the event of a communicable disease outbreak.

To the greatest extent possible, SOESD programs will continue current practices including:

- Following policies and procedures related to identifying, monitoring, and mitigating outbreaks of communicable diseases including COVID-19 and work closely with LPHA.
- Isolating individuals with symptoms of contagious conditions including COVID-19 in a designated isolation space and providing supervision by trained staff until they go home.
- Not requiring students to wear a mask in the isolation space if they have a medical condition or disability that prevents them from consistently wearing a face covering, or who are unable to remove a face covering independently.
- Requiring that staff providing supervision and symptom monitoring in the isolation space wear an appropriate face covering, preferably a medical-grade mask.
- Properly disposing of all Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) used during the care of a symptomatic individual prior to exiting the isolation care space, followed by hand washing once the PPE has been removed and disposed of.

#### **Screening for Symptoms**

SOESD programs implement symptom screening protocols for COVID-19 to prevent the spread of illness and maintain in-person learning.

- Staff and volunteers are responsible for self-screening of symptoms of contagious conditions including COVID-19.
- Staff will check for symptoms of COVID-19 for students, staff and anyone entering the ESD building or interacting with staff.

- All itinerant and district staff (maintenance, administrative, delivery, nutrition, and any other staff) who move between buildings are strongly recommended to keep a log or calendar of their time in each program building and who they were in contact with at each site. Staff members such as student teachers, itinerant staff, substitute teachers and other district staff who move between buildings are not considered visitors.
- Programs will continue current practices of notifying families in the event a contagious illness occurs within a classroom and/or the program. Such communication will include the message that staying home when sick can lower the risk of spreading communicable diseases to other people, including the virus that causes COVID-19.

## **COVID-19 Testing**

SOESD programs will provide information to staff, volunteers, and families on how to access COVID-19 testing in the community.



## Protocol for Notifications of COVID-19 Outbreaks and Exposures

Patty Michiels, Chief Human Resources Officer, will work with the LPHA on a coordinated response for any staff or students with a confirmed case of COVID-19. She will follow the ODE's COVID-19 Exclusion Summary Guidance for K-12 Schools found at this ODE link: <u>https://www.oregon.gov/ode/students-and-family/healthsafety/Documents/COVID-</u> <u>19%20Exclusion%20Summary%20Chart.pdf</u>

as well as the ODE's Planning for COVID-19 Scenarios in Schools found at this link: <u>https://www.oregon.gov/ode/students-and-</u> <u>family/healthsafety/Documents/Planning%20and%20Responding%20to%20COVID-</u> 19%20Scenarios%20in%20Schools.pdf

FERPA allows schools to share personally identifiable information with local public health authorities without consent when needed to respond to a health emergency.

All employees and managers are expected to notify the Chief Human Resources Officer in the event that they test positive for COVID-19, or they become aware that another individual who has been present in the worksite has been confirmed as having COVID-19.

When SOESD becomes aware that a person with confirmed COVID-19 has been in the workplace, the following measures will be taken:

- Based on a reasonable assessment of the activity of the individual with confirmed COVID-19, SOESD will seek to identify each employee who was likely to have been exposed (within 6 feet of the infected individual for a cumulative total of 15 minutes or more). Those employees will be notified individually. The individual who was the source of the exposure will *not* be identified.
- In addition, the following notification will be sent to everyone working in the defined portion of the facility where the exposure occurred, even if they did not appear to have close contact with the individual in question:

In accordance with the Oregon OSHA workplace rule, this email shall serve as notification that SOESD have been informed an individual who had been present at the \_\_\_\_\_ building, \_\_\_\_\_ floor has been diagnosed with COVID-19. We are notifying those individuals who have had close contact\* with the individual, but also want to tell everyone in the defined area.

If you experience symptoms of COVID-19 illness, please inform SOESD Chief Human Resources Officer and contact your health care provider. SOESD, as always will protect all employee medical information and will disclose it only to the degree such disclosure is strictly necessary.

For more information on COVID-19, including symptoms of which you may want to be aware, please visit the <u>Oregon Health Authority COVID-19 website</u> or the <u>US Centers for</u> <u>Disease Control & Prevention COVID-19</u> website.

*If you have any questions or concerns, please contact Patty Michiels, Chief Human Resources Officer.* 

The SOESD Business Manager will determine if extra or different cleaning is needed.

Administrators will reiterate agency routines around not coming to work when sick and follow-up any verbal re-training with email messages that explicitly tell employees to follow risk mitigation strategies and stay home if sick with fever, cough, or trouble breathing. Administrators will reiterate the process with all staff: any COVID-19 concerns go straight to the Chief Human Resources Officer who will determine the next steps.

When determining if part of, or an entire school, needs to close, SOESD will work in a collaborative manner with LPHA to consult on health and safety issues. The general decision of public health at the local level resides with school district officials.

#### **Facilities and Visitors**

Visitors shall be strongly encouraged to self-screen for COVID-19 symptoms, wash and/or sanitize their hands upon entry and exit, and adhere to the other provisions of this guidance to the extent possible.

Staff are strongly encouraged to promote the safety of essential visitors by:

- Maintaining accurate sign-in and sign-out protocols.
- Providing alcohol-based hand sanitizer (with 60-95% alcohol) near entry doors and other high-traffic areas.

#### **Air Flow and Circulation**

Ventilation is a primary tool to reduce viral spread indoors and promote a healthy learning environment. Indoor air spaces need special consideration because of potential COVID-19 transmission from the buildup in air of smaller particles and aerosols that are generated from breathing, talking, coughing, and sneezing.

To the extent possible, SOESD ensures effective ventilation and improvements in the indoor air quality in schools by:

- Increasing the amount of fresh outside air that is introduced into the system.
- Exhausting air from indoors to the outdoors; and
- Cleaning the air that is recirculated indoors with effective filtration methods (e.g., HEPA filters) to remove virus-containing particles from the air.

Staff are strongly encouraged to increase the circulation of outdoor air into indoor classrooms as much as possible by opening windows and doors, using fans, and other methods. However, staff must <u>not</u> use fans if:

- They would pose a safety or health risk to staff or students, such as those with pollen allergies or whose asthma symptoms would be exacerbated.
- Doors and windows are closed, and the fans are recirculating the classroom air.

SOESD has protocols in place for HVAC maintenance and monitoring as well as additional mitigation measures such as the assessment of individual spaces to determine the need for portable HEPA filtration systems.

#### **Physical Distancing**

SOESD promotes physical distancing in all daily activities to the extent possible.

#### Handwashing and Hygiene Practices

SOESD has protocols in place to ensure hand hygiene is regularly practiced in order to reduce the spread of contagious conditions including COVID-19. Hand hygiene, which means cleaning your hands by washing with soap and water or using an alcohol-based hand sanitizer containing at least 60% alcohol, is one of the best ways to avoid getting sick and prevent spreading germs to others.

To the greatest extent possible, program staff shall:

- Wash hands frequently with soap and water for at least 20 seconds. (CDC guidance).
- Reinforce protocols and provide handwashing and/or hand sanitizing facilities, tissues and garbage receptacles that are easily accessible to both students and staff.
- Reinforce covering coughs and sneezes among children and staff.
- Teach and model proper handwashing and covering coughs etiquette.
- Post signs about handwashing and cough etiquette.
- Ensure adequate handwashing supplies are available.
- Ensure access to hand sanitizer containing at least 60% alcohol for use.
- Ensure hand sanitizers are stored up, away, and out of sight of younger children and will be used only with adult supervision for children ages 5 years and younger.

## **Cleaning and Disinfection**

SOESD has cleaning and disinfection protocols in place to prevent the transmission of contagious conditions. Cleaning with products containing soap or detergent reduces germs on surfaces by removing contaminants and decreases risk of infection from surfaces. Disinfecting kills any remaining germs on surfaces, which further reduces any risk of spreading infection.



Staff will follow cleaning and disinfecting procedures to the extent possible including:

- Cleaning, sanitizing, and disinfecting frequently touched surfaces (e.g., door handles, sink handles, drinking fountains, transport vehicles) and shared objects (e.g., toys, games, art supplies) between uses multiple times per day.
- Maintaining clean and disinfected environments (<u>CDC guidance</u>), including classrooms, cafeterias and restrooms.
- Encouraging students to bring their own reusable water bottle and refill from the water fountain instead of drinking from the water fountain.
- Ensuring safe and correct application of disinfectants and keep these products away from students following labeling direction as specified by the manufacturer.
- Cleaning and disinfecting tables between meal periods.
- Providing additional cleaning and disinfecting of affected areas during an outbreak or illness.

#### Appendix A – Handwashing

#### How Germs Spread

Washing hands can keep you healthy and prevent the spread of respiratory and diarrheal infections from one person to the next. Germs can spread from other people or surfaces when you:

- Touch your eyes, nose, and mouth with unwashed hands
- Prepare or eat food and drinks with unwashed hands
- Touch a contaminated surface or objects
- Blow your nose, cough, or sneeze into hands and then touch other people's hands or common objects

#### Key Times to Wash Hands

You can help yourself and your loved ones stay healthy by washing your hands often, especially during these key times when you are likely to get and spread germs:

- Before, during, and after preparing food
- Before eating food
- Before and after caring for someone at home who is sick with vomiting or diarrhea
- Before and after treating a cut or wound
- After using the toilet
- After changing diapers or cleaning up a child who has used the toilet
- After blowing your nose, coughing, or sneezing
- After touching an animal, animal feed, or animal waste
- After handling pet food or pet treats
- After touching garbage

#### Follow Five Steps to Wash Your Hands the Right Way

Washing your hands is easy, and it's one of the most effective ways to prevent the spread of germs. Clean hands can stop germs from spreading from one person to another and throughout an entire community—from your home and workplace to childcare facilities and hospitals.

Follow these five steps every time.

- 1. Wet your hands with clean, running water (warm or cold), turn off the tap, and apply soap.
- 2. Lather your hands by rubbing them together with the soap. Lather the backs of your hands, between your fingers, and under your nails.
- 3. Scrub your hands for at least 20 seconds. Need a timer? Hum the "Happy Birthday" song from beginning to end twice.
- 4. Rinse your hands well under clean, running water.
- 5. Dry your hands using a clean towel or air dry them.



#### Use Hand Sanitizer When You Can't Use Soap and Water

Washing hands with soap and water is the best way to get rid of germs in most situations. If soap and water are not readily available, you can use an alcohol-based <u>hand</u> <u>sanitizer</u> that contains at least 60% alcohol. You can tell if the sanitizer contains at least 60% alcohol by looking at the product label.

# Sanitizers can quickly reduce the number of germs on hands in many situations. However,

- Sanitizers do not get rid of all types of germs.
- Hand sanitizers may not be as effective when hands are visibly dirty or greasy.
- Hand sanitizers might not remove harmful chemicals from hands like pesticides and heavy metals.

#### How to use hand sanitizer

- Apply the gel product to the palm of one hand (read the label to learn the correct amount).
- Rub your hands together.
- Rub the gel over all the surfaces of your hands and fingers until your hands are dry. This should take around 20 seconds.



You can use an alcohol-based hand sanitizer that contains at least 60% alcohol if soap and water are not available.

**Caution!** Swallowing alcohol-based hand sanitizers can cause alcohol poisoning if more than a couple of mouthfuls are swallowed. <u>Keep it out of reach of</u> <u>young children and supervise their use</u>.

## **Appendix B – Disease-Specific Guidelines**

Refer to <u>Communicable Disease Guidance for Schools</u> (August 2022), p.14-24 for disease specific guidance.